
Homicides of Adults in Vermont, 1821-1846PRIVATE 

Class of death:   

Class of crime:   


Relationship:    


Motive:  

Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):


Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court: 


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1821, Sept. 4




Swanton, FRA

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  DUEL

Intox?:  

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  18


HOM:  Jean Baptiste Tumas (aka La Juvenesse) [aided and abetted by Louis Tumas (aka Louis Baptiste)] m. Abraham Cavely


Weapon:  pistol shot to left side of back.  d. 9/22


Circumstances:  [field]


Inquest:  


Indictment:  JBT ind. for murder / LT captured & indicted for aiding and assisting in murder.  


Term:  12/1821t / 9/1826t


Court proceedings:  12/1821t:  JBT pNG.  fG of mansl.  LIFE.  Pardoned, 10/1826.  9/1826t:  LT captured & pNG.  fG of mansl.  7 yrs.  Pardoned 10/1828.  "to leave the state."

Source:  

Fra. Co. Ct. v. 4:  45; v. M:  402

Newspaper:  

RH, 1/9/1822:  just mentioned.  dtl. Burlington, 12/28/1821

Census:  

1820C:  nothing

Genealogy:  

Accused 1:  

Jean Baptiste Tumas (aka La Juvenesse) 

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


62

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Swanton

Birthplace:

b. Shamblee, Lower Canada

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Louis Tumas (aka Louis Baptiste) 

Ethnicity:

French

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


20

66"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Swanton

Birthplace:

b. Lower Canada

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Abraham Cavely

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[20]

'young man'

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Swanton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1822, July 15




Windsor, WDS

P

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:   LEGAL PRISONER by PRISON GUARD

Motive:  JUSTIFIED / PREVENTING ESCAPE

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. prison guard m. Patrick Fane


Weapon:  gunshot to head  [musket]


Circumstances:  in the yard of the Vermont State Prison


Inquest:  Verdict:  "that he was killed by the guard from necessity and in the discharge of duty."


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none

Source:  

[History:  find reference in prisoner's account of the history of Windsor prison]

Newspaper:  


New Hampshire PATRIOT:  HOMICIDE IN VERMONT:  7/22/1822:  ESCAPE ATT at VERMONT STATE PRISON:  dateline, JOURNAL, 7/15:  Sat morning last, immediately after let out of their cells, 4 tried to scale the walls.  Ran hand cart to wall.  Guard told them to stp; they responded by throwing stones & brick bats.  Guard shot the ringleader, an Irishman, Patrick Fane (23) -- shot in head DEAD, inst., still grasping in death a knife & short chain, with which he prob meant to assail the guard upon mounting the wall.


One prisoner yelled "'he has killed on of us,' a momentary pause ensued; but with the threat 'now, damn him, we'll kill him,' they again commenced their assault on the guard" until he levelled his pistol again & readied to fire:  they stood still.  INQUEST:  "that he was killed by the guard from necessity and in the discharge of duty."


RH 7/22/1822:  ditto

Census:  

1820C:  nothing

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[20]

young

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Windsor

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Patrick Fane

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


23

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:

prisoner in Vt. St. Prison

Town:


Windsor

Birthplace:

b. Ireland

Religion:




Organizations:



 [1822]




___, RUT

CT

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK
[NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Richard Bedow a. ___


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  bnf for murder


Term:  2/1823t


Court proceedings:  jailed.  discharged after grand jury hearing.

Source:  

J. of Gen. Ass. 1823:  198

Newspaper:  

Rutland Herald 2/5/1822:  Sup. Ct. term opens in Rutland Co.  "There are some criminal causes which will probably be tried, including one for homeside [sic], or murder."

Rutland Herald 2/12/1822:  "In the case of homicide, alluded to in our last, where the accused had been complained of and held in prison to appear at the present term . . . the grand jury found no bill and the prisoner was discharged."

Census:  

1820C & 1830C:  nothing

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Richard Bedow 

Ethnicity:

[unknown]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1823, July




Grand Isle, GI

INQ

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss CAS DRO / poss HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. person suspected [Paul Hale] of m. Francis Daw


Weapon:  drowned


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  i.d. 7/25/1823:  Verdict:  drowned by falling from a boat navigated by Paul Hale of Lower Canada, but the jury suspects FD had received a blow to the ear or shoulder before he fell in.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none

Source:  

Inquest, Franklin Co. Sup. Ct. records, 4: 137

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

[Paul Hale]

Ethnicity:

English Canadian

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Lower Canada

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Francis Daw

Ethnicity:

[English Canadian]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[Lower Canada]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1824, Jan. 7




Danby, RUT

P

CT

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  QUARREL / HONOR

Intox?:  yes, both

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Daniel Palmer m. Ephraim Briggs


Weapon:  beating with fists, blow from right hand to head  [phys]


Circumstances:  at the "Red Tavern," then kept by Nicholas Jinks tavern.  A fight over who was to be served first.  The fight got out of hand.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  bnf for murder.  ind. for mansl.  


Term:  2/1824t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of mansl.  LIFE.  pardoned 10/1829

Source:  

Rut. Co. Sup. Ct. file, 615:  #46; 617:  #39.  Witnesses:  James McDaniel, Jonathan Barrett, Abel Horton, Sarah Baker, Charity Hanick, Russell Mallory of Danby; Betsey Hutchins of Pawlet; Howard Salisbury and Jonathan Breuer of Tinmouth.


J. of Gen. Ass. 1824:  237


J. C. Williams, The History and Map of Danby, Vermont (Rutland:  McLean and Roberts, 1869), 216-217.  DP settled on the homestead where his father had lived for many yrs.  "in his early days, a respected member of society."  EB lived in the edge of Tinmouth, & came to the Corners frequently "to transact business."  DP & EB met one evening at the tavern.  "Both men were addicted to drinking and when intoxicated, were somewhat quarrelsome."  Quarrel, both "quick tempered," one challenged the other to the door.  DP, "upon reaching the door, being very quick in his movements, struck Briggs in the face, falling him to the ground, and then jumping with both feet into his breast, which unfortunately resulted in his death."  Examination before Barton Bromley, Esq., j.p. -- acquitted.  Friends of EB caused a 2nd arrest:  tried at Rut. Ct. house, fG.  LIFE.  Upon receiving his sentence, he "politely thanked the judge that his sentence was not for a longer term.'"  Returned to town after his pardon & remained a citizen for many yrs.  d. at Wallingford, 1862 (84).

Newspaper:  


RH, 1/13/1824:  P & P happened to meet at a tavern of Mr. Jinks.  Each called for a glass of sling.  The first was served.  EB went to drink it, but DP forbade him, claiming it was his.  EB tasted it anyway.  Hard words ensued.  DP took EB by the collar.  The landlord interfered and "turned" DP out of doors.  After some time EB went out.  Soon after, customers heard noise and went out.  "Briggs was found prostrate on his back on the ground and Palmer beating him with his hand or fist."  d. inst.  Brain injured near the right ear by broken jaw.


EB:  a revolutionary pensioner, a poor man (64)


DB:  "rather an intemperate petulent man, and possesses some considerable estate."


RH 2/17/1824:  ed. reports the verdict on DP.  Ed. says he is satisfied, although the crowd was somewhat divided on the matter at the trail.  [[assuming that the death was accidental and unintended, and that assault was the proper charge, it seems]]

Census:  


1810C:


EB RUT 005 Danby
M 0,0,16,45  F 0,26


DP RUT 012 "

M 0,26 // F 16,26,45


1820C:  no Briggs in Danby or Tinmouth


DP RUT 190 Danby
M 0,0,10,26  F 0,10,26
Ag - 1

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Daniel Palmer 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


44

68"

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. lst to Hannah (Herrick); m. 2nd to Polly (Hopkins)

Children:

5 ch.

Occupation:

farmer
considerable estate, intemperate

Town:


Danby

Birthplace:

b. Nine Partners, NY

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Ephraim Briggs

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


64

Literate:




Marital Status:
m

Children:

yes, several

Occupation:

farmer

poor, revolutionary pensioner

Town:


Tinmouth

Birthplace:



Religion:


Organizations:



1824, June 23




Bridport, ADD

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE FATHER by SON

Motive:  REVENGE for not helping him secure release from prison

Intox?:  prob. assailant

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Charles Ball m. Daniel Ball


Weapon:  beat with hands & feet, threw upon the dwelling floor.  Beaten all over his body and head.


Circumstances:  at the home of DB


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  1/1825t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of mansl.  LIFE.  d. in prison, 3/1843.



NOTE:  charged with theft, 7/1820t

Source:  

J. of Gen. Ass., 1825:  n.p.


Add. Co. Sup. Ct. 4:  194.

Newspaper:  


VT AURORA 7/1/1824 (fr. STATESMAN).  ditto.


RH, 6/29/1824:  The two men had just returned from a raising.  CB was probably drunk.  CB came home first & appeared enraged against his father & threatened to kill him.  The father was warned not to enter the house, but he did.  Stomped to death.  2 neighbors tried to stop CB, but they were thrown out of doors bodily & the trampling recommenced.  Clearly intended to injure DB fatally.


MOTIVE:  CB had been in the state prison.  Angered because his father "did not try to get him liberated" from prison.  [[unclear, however, if that was the motive behind the killing]]

New Hampshire PATRIOT, 2/21/1825:  HOM in VT:  the Chas Ball case.  Quotes Rutland HERALD report.  The CB's mother testified on his behalf saying that he "was the mildest tempered of the whole" of her children.

IRONIC VOICE IN THE PRESS ABOUT VIOLENT PEOPLE


VW 2/15/1825:  HOM:  note Charles Ball, who killed his father in Bridport, 6/1824, fG of mansl, LIFE in VSP.

Census:  

1820C:

DB
ADD 080 Bridport
M 0,10,45  F 16,45  Ag - 2

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Charles Ball 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


32

66"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Bridport

Birthplace:

b. Springfield, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Daniel Ball

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[57]

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:

yes

Occupation:



Town:


Bridport

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1824, June




Manchester, BEN

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   SUSPICIOUS / CAS DRO

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. person m. Alvira Ayers


Weapon:  poss. violence, drowned


Circumstances:  in cistern at home of her employer, Hon. Judge Skinner


Inquest:  Verdict:  acc. drowning


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none

Source:  
Newspaper:  


New Hampshire PATRIOT:  7/12/1824:  SUSPICIOUS DEATH in VT:  NHP ed. doesn't buy the verdict of the inquest.  Manchester, last week.  Alvira Ayers (18), in family of the Hon. Judge Skinner, found in a water cistern, near the house, on Th morning last, a corpse.  "The water in cistern, it is said, being not deep enough to have drowned her, had she stood up, the lid being down when she was discovered, the body having some marks of violence upon it, and her clothes somewhat torn, produced varkous conjectures; but the jury of Inquest were of opinion that she fell in of herself, and her death was occasioned thereby."

RH 6/29/1824:  ditto.  last week.

Census:  

1820C:  none in Manch.  in Ben. Co.:

Levi Ayers
BEN 170 Benn.

1830C:  none in Manch.  in Ben. Co.:

John Ayers
BEN 032 Benn.

Levi Ayers
BEN 030 Benn.

Loren Ayers
BEN 028 Benn.

Genealogy:

no old town hist. of Bennington; nothing in hist. of Manch. at VHS

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Alvira Ayers

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:

[domestic servant] in home of Hon. Judge Skinner

Town:


Manchester

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1826, Jan. 16




Salisbury, ADD

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM PUPIL'S OLDER BROTHER by TEACHER

Motive:  DISPUTE over DISCIPLINE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  William Blake m. Seymour C. Howard


Weapon:  maple club to head -- gripped with both hands & fractured skull.  d. in the evening, 11pm.  [d. 6 hrs after assault]


Circumstances:  WB was SCH's teacher.  Accused of clubbing SCH to death in a disciplinary dispute.


Inquest:  yes


Indictment:  ind. for mansl.  


Term:  6/1827t


Court proceedings:  Admitted to $1000 b.  6/1826t:  bnf. for mansl.  6/1827t:  ind. for mansl.  pNG.  6/1828t:  fNG.  

Source:  

Add. Co. Sup. Ct. 11:  279

Newspaper:  


NHP, 1/30/1826

Woodstock OBSERVER, 1/24/1826 -- from the NORTHERN SENTINEL (Burlington):  dtl. Salisbury:  M last, a young man named Howard (18).  The deceased and his two younger brothers had for several years past made a "disturbance and difficulty" with the district schoolmasters.  The district hired Blake, who was thought able to control them.  The youngest [a small child] refused to spell correctly -- B said he'd punish him, and the youth fled the schoolroom.  The next Monday he returned [after an absence of several days] accompanied by his older brother "who had come to protect him" against punishment.


B ordered the young boy forward for punishment.  The deceased rose and "in an insulting manner" told B to leave his brother alone.  He refused to sit.  B gave him a severe blow with a crutch of the scholars.  H clinched him.  B gave him another more severe blow to the head & fractured H's skull.  H was escorted home by a student.  d. 11pm.


Inquest:  B gave himself up & was bound for trial.

VT AURORA (Vergennes), 1/26/1826:  ditto.  [Prints two versions, one of which portrays the death more an unfortunate, but the same details are present.]

New Hampshire Patriot:  1/30/1826:  the MANSL in Salisbury, VT by teacher of      Howard.  (19)  copied fr VT PATRIOT AND STATE GAZETTE

NHP 5/1/1826:  bnf.  Grand jury nearly unanimous in believing teacher innocent.  //  VT WATCHMAN, 5/9/1826:  ditto

Vermont WATCHMAN 5/9/1826:  SUSPECTED HOMICIDE:  INQUEST, RUTLAND HERALD:  Addison County Court, grand jury investigated case of the school master "who, our readers will recollect, was complained of for killing young Howard, one of his scholars, at Salisbury, last fall."  Acquitted by nearly unanimous vote of grand jury.

Census:  

1820C:  nothing

1830C:  no WB in Salisb.

Elerey Howard  ADD 207 Salisb.

M 5,5,10,15,15,40  F 20,20,40

Genealogy:

SCH:  son of Mr. E. Howard

Accused:  

William Blake 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

teacher

Town:


Salisbury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Seymour C. Howard

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


19

Literate:




Marital Status:
s

Children:

no

Occupation:

student

Town:


Salisbury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1826, Dec.




Bellows Falls, WDH

P


NOTE:  the Luther Weld court record does not name a victim, nor does the story on Jacob Blanchard mention the perpetrator.  Counted separately, because Bellows Falls is far from Guilford.  Doubtful for that reason that the homicides are identical.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [3]

[did not die instantly]


HOM:  ___ m. Jacob Blanchard


Weapon:  pushed or shoved from piazza of Mr. B. Robinson's house.  d. in Westminster, VT


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  Verdict:  pushed or shoved, caused his death.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  no ind.

Source:  
Newspaper:  

Woodstock OBSERVER, 1/2/1827

Brattleboro MESSENGER:  issues missing at VtStLib

Census:  

1820C:  Blanchards in WDH Rockingham

Jno.
145
M 0,0,0,0,10,16,45  F 0,0,10,10,16,16,16,45
Ag - 8

1830C:  Blanchards in WDH Rockingham

Jno.
087
M 10,20,60  F 15,15,20,20,50

Genealogy:

not in Rockingham town hist. at VHS

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Jacob Blanchard

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


38

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1827]




[Guilford], WDH

CT


NOTE:  the Luther Weld court record does not name a victim, nor does the story on Jacob Blanchard mention the perpetrator.  Counted separately, because Bellows Falls is far from Guilford.  Doubtful for that reason that the homicides are identical.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Luther Weld m. ___


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for mansl.  


Term:  9/1827t


Court proceedings:  Bonds forfeited.  n.p.

Source:  
Wdh. Co. Ct. 10:  446

J. of Gen. Ass. 1827:  224

Newspaper:  


Brattleboro MESSENGER:  issues missing at VtStLib

Census:  

1820C:  Welds in WDH

Luther Weld
WDH 061 Guilford  M 10,10,16,16,16,45  F 10,45   Ag - 6

1830C:

Luther Weld
WDH 035 Guilford  

M 0,0,15,15,20,20,60  F 20,20,50

Genealogy:


Official History of Guilford, Vermont, 1678-1961 (Brattleboro:  Vermont Printing Co., for the Town of Guilford and Broad Brooks Grange No. 151, 1961).


Luther Weld:  144 (warned out of town, 1781), 152 (LW on 1790 census, only himself in his hhld:  Calvin (5), Daniel (8), and Isaac (6) also in 1790C), 246 (owned a pew in the old White Church),352


Luther Weld Jr.:  352


352:  a farm on the s slope on the north side of Broad Brook opposite the road leading south into Wetherhead Hollow.  Purchased by Luther and Calvin Weld in 1794.  Calvin sold his share in 1796 to his brother, Luther, and to N. Millett.  The latter sold all he had of Weld to Elisha Gregory of Templeton, Mass., including a gristmill and a dwelling house.  The farm dwelling, owned by Luther Weld, was sold by LW to Arad Hunt in 1813.  Repurchased by LW in 1818, who deeded it to his sons, Daniel and Luther, Jr. in 1827.  Luther Jr. conveyed his interest to Daniel, who sold in 1836 to Caleb and Warren Blanchard.

Accused:  

Luther Weld

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[Guilford]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1828, May 28




Royalton, WDS

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  [QUARREL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  2


HOM:  Clark Caryl m. Hiram Strobridge


Weapon:  skillet to left side of head.  1/5" deep wound.  d. 48 hrs.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  12/1828t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG.  10 yrs & $15c.  Pardoned 10/1835.

Source:  

Wds. Co. Ct. 14:  238


J. of Gen. Ass. 1829:  192

Newspaper:  

Woodstock OBSERVER 12/16/1828:  fG. of mansl.  10 yrs.

Vt REPUBLICAN 5/31 - 6/28/1828:  nothing

Vt CHRONICLE  5/30 - 6/27/1828:  nothing6

Census:  

1820C:  no HS

John Caryl
WDS 173 Stockbridge

M 0,16,26  F 0,0,16,26

Com - 2

Willard Caryl
WDS 170 Barnard

M 0,10,10,10,26  F 0,0,26,26
Mfg - 1

1830C:  no HS

several Caryls in Windsor Co., none in Royalton

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Clark Caryl 

Ethnicity:

[Scots]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


39

67"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Royalton

Birthplace:

b. Chester, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Hiram Strobridge

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Royalton

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1828, July 10




Manchester, BEN

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL / ATT SUI (delayed)

Rela:     NONDOM
Motive:  QUARREL started at raising, ended outside a tavern
Intox?:  yes, both

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:
n
Time of day:


Days to death:  3


HOM:  Ezekial Odell m. David Leason


Weapon:  stone (5 or 6 lbs. in weight) to forehead.  Skull frac.  d. 7/13, Sunday, 5pm)


Circumstances:  outside Mattison's tavern.  At a raising in Factory Point, EO started a quarrel by challenging others to fight him and by knocking down a man named Wells.  DL interfered and stopped the quarrel.  EO threatened revenge, but went home (2 or 3 mi. away).  Soon after, EO returned to Mattison's tavern, where DL had stopped.  EO came up to DL, used abusive language, pulled a stone from his pocket, and bashed DL's skull.  DL got in his wagon & drove some distance before collapsing.  Skull frac.  //  later, at home [or in his jail cell -- accounts conflict], EO att. suicide by cutting his throat.  But only severed his windpipe.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  murder


Term:  11/1828t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of M-2.  LIFE.  Pardoned 10/1832.

Source:  

Journal of the General Assembly:  no return from Bennington Co. in 1828

Newspaper:  


CHESTER BANNER


RH  7/22/1828:  the murder


RH 11/18/1828:  ed. on EO's trial:  upset that the death penalty was not invoked despite malice aforethought.  "But as some of our jurists have lately found out that 'killing is no murder,'" . . . "no dream evidence in this case; else peradventure the compassion of the court might not have exceeded the justice of the law."


BFP, 7/25 & 11/21/1828

Census:  

1820C:

Nathan Leason  WDS 201 Chester

M 16,26
F 26,45
Ag - 2

Ezekial Odle
BEN 138 Manch. [& 3 other Odle hhlds]

M 16  F 0,16
Ag - 1

1830C:

David Leason   BEN 145 Winh.  M 50  F 0,0,5,20,20,50 

Artemus Leason BEN 145 Winh.  M 0,30  F 0,5,20

Abigail Leason BEN 144 Winh.  M 0,5,20  F 0,5,20,80

Anna Odle

BEN 106 Manch.

F 5,5,30

Jeremiah Odle
BEN 103 Manch.  M 20,20,50,60  F 10,50

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Ezekial Odel 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


33

68"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Manchester

Birthplace:

b. Manchester, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

David Leason

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Manchester

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1828, Nov. 19




Panton, ADD

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    TAVERN CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  QUARREL
Intox?:  prob.

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [7]


HOM:  Aaron W. Bristol m. ___ Snell


Weapon:  stabbed with knife, once to shoulder & twice to left side.  At first the victim seemed to be recovering, but then he died.


Circumstances:  tavern


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for assault & battery (as physicians could not agree that the stabbed wounds caused Snell's death)


Term:  12/1828t


Court proceedings:  assailant escaped to New York state.  Then returned.  pNG.  fG.  $50f & $46.68 c.

Source:  

Journal of the General Assembly, 1829: 194.  Listed as A&B, so it cannot count as an independent source.

Newspaper:  


BFP, 11/28/1828:  a quarrel at a tavern.  The fight carried out of doors, where the knife was pulled.  //  reports incorrectly that the victim has already died.  


Woodstock OBSERVER 12/2/1828, from the BFP, garbles the story -- says the fight began as a barroom dispute with fisticuffs in Ferrisburg, Vt. -- they retired outside to fight further when the fatalblow to the left side was struck.  Assailant escaped to NY.


VERMONT AURORA (Vergennes), 11/13 - 12/11/1828:  nothing


VERMONT AMERICAN and GAZETTE (Middlebury), 12/2/1828:  not fatal.  "a turbulent fellow (his name we do not know) provoked a dispute with Snell, and finally drew a knife."


VERMONT AMERICAN and GAZETTE (Middlebury), 12/17/1828:  Mr. Snell dead.  "Aaron Bristol, who quarrelled with him, has been arrested, and is one of the persons against whom the grand jury found a bill of indictment for assault and battery.  The physicians who examined the deceased, were not at all sure that his death was caused by wounds received in the affray."  Verdict:  12/31/1828 issue.


Vt. JOURNAL 12/6/1828:  ditto.  reports of Snell's death erronious.

Census:  

1820C:  


Aaron W. Bristol (p. 32):  M 16,16  F 0,0,0,26  Ag - 2


Aaron Bristol (p. 32):
  M 45  F 45  [no occup.]

1830C:


no Snells


Noah Bristol ADD (214)
M 0,0,5,10,15,40  F 0,5,20


Mary Bristol ADD (214)
M 10  F 0,5,15,20

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Aaron W. Bristol

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[Panton]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Snell

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[Panton]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1829, [May] 




Colchester, CHI

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. person m. unk. man


Weapon:  unk


Circumstances:  body found on shore of Lake Champlain on 6/4; blow to forehead


Inquest:  verdict:  certain that the blow to the head caused death.  Murder.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  
Newspaper:  


BFP, 6/12/1829:  the victim was clothes.  $2.07 and a razor in his pocket, no coat, 4 pen knives.


KEENE SENTINEL, 6/26/1829

Census:  

not applicable

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


45

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1829, July 3




Pownal, BEN

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   HOAX

Rela:    HHLD EMPLOYEE by EMPLOYER

Motive: QUARREL over SETTLING ACCOUNTS at end of employment; RACIAL PREJUDICE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  B. [Boultward] Wright m. Lyman Booth


Weapon:  hands tied, skull broken


Circumstances:  in the field near his employer's house.  According to the erronious story, LB was missing since 7/3 & his body was thought to have been found on 8/24.  He was found alive, however, on 8/25.  The alleged victim had in fact run away.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  
Newspaper:  


RH, 8/18 & 25/1829; 6/16/1829


Lansingburgh (NY) Gazette [the source of one of the follow-up stories, including the testimony of Sarah Booth].  


The story:  BW hired LB to care for a horse for a season that ended 7/3.  BW started a quarrel with LB, who refused to enter the house before settling up with BW.  BW pulled LB to the door and called a "gang of ruffians" to help him.  LB hit BW, the gang beat LB, tied his hands behind his back, carriedhim behind the house where they "watched him," according to BW, "through the night.  The next morning, LB was found "missing."  BW claimed that LB cut the cord with an axe and fled.  [the original story according to the testimony to Sarah Booth]


New Hampshire PATRIOT, 8/17/1829:  HOM in VT:  Lansingburg GAZETTE, dtn 8/4:  Lyman Booth found dead in a field at Pownal, VT, his hands tied behind him & his skull fractured.  [the report is confident that his body was found!]  Had been employed by a person named Wright, b/w whom & the deceased some dispute occurred, which caused W, with the help of 2 or 3 others, to seize Booth & drag him towards the house.  B resisted, the ruffians knocked him down, dragged him into the house & tied his hands--watched him most of the night, as W states.  Next morning he was missing; and Wright tells his neighbors that he got an axe, cut the cords from his hands and got away.

Census:  

1820C:  many Wrights in Pownal, but no B. Wright

widow Sarah Booth  ADD 118 Pownal

M 0,0,10,10,16  F 4

Ag - 4

1830C:  no Sarah Booth in Pownal; many Wrights

Boultward Wright  ADD 053

M 0,5,5,10,20,20,20,30,40,50  F 10,10,20,20

Genealogy:

Accused:  

B. [Boultward] Wright 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[54]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:

[farmer]

hhld

Town:


Pownal

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Lyman Booth

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


23

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

no

Occupation:

[farm laborer]; no hhld; employee of BW

Town:


Pownal

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1829




Ira, RUT

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   FALSE REPORT of HOM

Rela:    

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. person suspected of m. unk. man


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  
Newspaper:  

New Hampshire Sentinel (Keene):  1/14/1830:  FALSE REPORT:  "The pedler of Navarino bonnets, supposed to have been murdered in Ira, Vermont, now lives in Whitingham, and has no recollection of being murdered at all!  Several of the persons missing in New York are missing no longer, and the alarm has subsided."

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1830, [Aug.]




Ira, RUT

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   SUS / MISSING/ doubtful -- no body found

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  ___ m. ___


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  at the house of the accused.  The victim's wagon found nearby.  Occurred "several months past" from Nov.  The suspect had the peddlar's horse and Nazarene bonnets.  Claimed that he swapped for the horse and found the bonnets in the road.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  suspect fled once he was suspected.  The Rutland Herald does not give the story "full credit" -- warns readers to doubt it.

Source:  
Newspaper:  

RH 11/9/1830

Census:  

not applicable

Genealogy:

Accused:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Ira

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

peddlar

Town:


transient from Mass.

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1831, Apr. 15




Franklin, FRA

P

CT


NOTE:  copied to child homicide file

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM:  1 child & 1 adult / AIK

Rela:   SPOUSE WIFE and RELATIVE CHILD (SON) by FATHER / AIK MOTHER-IN-LAW by SON-IN-LAW & DAUGHTER (CHILD) by FATHER

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS / FAMILICIDE

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Josiah Randall m. Asa Randall (his son) and Sarah Randall (his wife) and aik. ___ Randall (his mother) and ___ Randall (his daughter)


Weapon:  butcher knife.  Initially attacked his mother (who fled), then slashed the throat of his daughter (who survived).  Then cut the throat of his wife, severed the head of his son, who d. inst.  


Circumstances:  "fit of insanity" (according to early newspaper accounts)


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  9/1831t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  hung jury.  4/1833:  dropped upon the death of JR.

Source:  

Fra. Co. Ct. docket, 9/1831t:  102, 103; 9/1832t; 4/1833t.


J. of Gen. Ass., 1833:  211

Newspaper:  


BFP, 4/29/1831

St. Albans REPOSITORY -- promises details [not at VtStLib]

RH, 5/3/1831


Vermont WATCHMAN 5/3/1831:  HOM:  Randall hom:  XEROX:  OUTSTANDING ACCOUNT.


NHP 5/9/1831:  JR lst attacked his wife's mother, "who was at his house taking care of his wife, then recovering from a fit of sickness), with a large knife, observing to her that he would kill her--the old lady received a slight wound in the arm, but succeeded in escaping from the house, when he immediately with the ferocity of a demon attacke dhis wife, who was in bed in the room with an infant child, and gave her a mortal wound in the neck, but by the interference of his daughter, about 12 years of age, the mother fled to another room.  He then attempted to cut the throat of his daughter--she fresisted and preventged the fatal effecgts of the knife by holding her hands around her neck--her hands were badly cut and a severe wound on both sides of her neck.  He then attacked his son who had come to the assistance of his little sister, and killed him.  The girl with the utmost presence of mind went to another room where two younger children were sleeping and escaped with them to the garden, where she hid them in the current bushes, covering them over with a blanket, in which situation they remained undiscovered and unhurt -- and notwithstanding her severe wounds, she again entered the house, took the infant and fled to the neighbors and gave the alarm.  The neighbors immediately repaired to the house where they beheld a most shocking and heart rending spectacle.  Randall was seated by the fire, his son's head severed from the body, and burning on the coals -- the body of his wife was lying on the heart and her clothes on fire.


Randall was immediately arrested and committed to prison in St. Albans.  He has heretofore been known at times to have been partially deranged, and these deeds of darkness are attributed to a fit of insanity."  BURLINGTON SENTINEL

Census:  

1830C:  FRA

JR  M 10,30  F 0,5,5,10,30

Genealogy:

VR - 210:  nothing

Accused:  

Josiah Randall 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[36]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. to Sarah

Children:

yes, several

Occupation:




hhld

Town:


Franklin

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Asa Randall

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


14

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


Franklin

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Sarah Randall 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[36]

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Josiah

Children:

yes, several

Occupation:



Town:


Franklin

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

___ Randall 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[61]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:

[yes]

Occupation:



Town:


Franklin

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 4:  

___ Randall

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


12

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


Franklin

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1831, May 12




Wallingford, RUT

P

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  CHIARIVARI

Intox?:  prob. victim

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
1am

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Rowland Wheeler m. Isaac Osborn


Weapon:  butcher knife to heart.  d. inst.  


Circumstances:  home of the assailant on the Wallingford-Shrewsbury line


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  5/1831:  j.p. hearing.  Charges dismissed.  Justifiable homicide, self-defense.



NOTE:  6 persons convicted at county court in connection with the affair, 9/1831t.

Source:  

Walter Thorpe, History of Wallingford, Vermont (Rutland:  Tuttle Co., 1911), 185-188.  


"The Patch Hollow Tragedy":  on east side of Bear Mountain, runs n-s.  On the Patch Hollow Road there were 5 families:  Luther Hale (who made wooden plows for farmers in the area), David Patch (who built a substantial house & reared a large family), Simon Patch, Edmund Patch, & Rolon Wheeler (who had built a log house, scene of the tragedy).



Rolon Wheeler m. a daughter of David Patch "and was a man of violent passions and jealous disposition.  Report said he was guilty of indiscretion with his wife's sister and the community to show resentment for such conduct, planned to turn out and give him a coat of tar and feathers and perchance ride him on a rail.  They were well organized" -- young men from the village, Sugar Hill, & Shrewsbury.  "Threats were made so publicly that Wheeler hearing of them swore that if attacked he would defend himself."  Visiting the village, went to blksm shop of Thomas Draper & made a large file into a two-edged knife "and fitted it to a handle."  Jarvis Learned had been selected to lead the rioters, but he was called away to attend his sister's funeral.


Party set out that night with several jugs of rum, a bucket of tar, & a sack of feathers.  "The detachment from Shrewsbury got lost in the woods, either from darkness or too frequent potations, and after wandering about for a time went home and reported they'd had a great time with 'Old Wheeler.'"  The other parties joined in a field south of the hollow, disguised themselves, & selected Isaac Osborne (foreman in James Rustin's hat shop) as the leader.  Went down the road to RW's house & asked for admission.  "They claimed they were going fishing in Shrewsbury Pond and wanted some fire.  Wheeler had placed against the door a rail long enough to brace against the opposite wall and feeling secure paid no heed to them.  Finding it impossible to force the door, they pried a hole in the gable end of the roof" & IO, James Sherman, & Silas Congdon "sprang into the house."  Struggle in the dark.  JS got RW by the hair & began to drag him outside when RW "commenced to use his knife with deadly effect."  The rail was knocked down & the others rushing in from outside added to the confusion.


Benj. Brownell:  stabbed in the side


Silas Congdon:  seized the knife, "cutting out the inside of his hand."


Isaac Osborne:  "fell across the bed and died without a cry."


"During the struggle Wheeler slipped out of his shirt, dived under the bed, raised some floor board, crawled under the house and made his escape into the woods.  Meantime those within the house had got hold of Osborne's body and drew it about the floor thinking it was Wheeler.  It was not long before they noticed the man was dead when they dropped the body and hastily left the house."  Mrs. Wheeler ran screaming for her father's house.  James Sherman made his way to Dr. John Fox's home to have his wounds dressed.  JS told JF of what had happened, & JF went to RW's house & found IO's body.


RW fled naked & by daybreak had stolen a shirt from Mrs. Horton's clothes line in the Hartsboro section & spent the day in an "unfrequented barn."  Made a straw dress from the 2 bundles of rye in the barn & "made his way across country to his sister's home" in a part of Pawlet known as "Tadmar."  Arrested the following day & brought back to Wallingford for trial.  Upon hearing the facts, RW was discharged.  "His acquittal was unexpected and it tended to intensify the excitement."  After RW's release, he & his wife left town & lived near Darby Corners, & from thence went West.  As for the rioters:  Joseph Hagar & Reuben Woods $60f. each.  James Huntoon, James Sherman, & Herman Mighells $40f. each.


The account:  from Dr. J. E. Hitt, who researched the incident & wrote an article on it.

Newspaper:  


RH, 5/17 & 5/24 & 9/27/1831


9/27:  in county court, 6 convicted in connection with the Wallingford affair.

BFP 5/20 & 5/27/1831:  ditto.  Rioters in masks & blackened faces broke into RW's house & jumped on the bed where RW and his wife & 2 children were sleeping.  A short scuffle broke the bed.  d. inst.

BFP 5/20/1831 (quoting the Rutland Herald):  "The unfortunate person who by engaging in this affair, has lost his life, was a journeyman hatter of decent character and ordinarily of inoffensive deportment.  The disasterous end of this ill-advised and wicked adventure will, we hope, for a long time be an effectual check to any like exhibition of folly and madness.  We deem it of the utmost importance that every attempt by private and unauthorized individuals to take the administration of justice into their own hands, and to inflict summary punishment upon any offenses, we care not how good the intention or how gross the provocation, should not only be frowned upon, and put down as ignoble and base, by all the respectable community; but should also be severely dealt with by those charged with the execution of the laws.  Loss of life is but the natural catastrophe of such plays."

RH, 6/7/1831:  the initial report that ___ Brownell had been killed was false.  It was planted to cover the fact that he has absconded to avoid trial for assault and riot.  //  upset letter from Wallingford blames the affair on Shrewsbury roughs and claims only 2 participants were "permanent residents of this village"

RH, 6/14/1831:  an upset letter about the upset letter.  Claims that rioters from Wallingford, not Shrewsbury, to blame.


NHP 5/30/1831


NHGaz 6/14/1831

Census:  

1830C:

RW  RUT 184 Shrews.  M 20  F 0,20

Martha Osborn BEN 066 Shafts.
 M 70  F 50,60

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Rowland Wheeler 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. ___ Patch

Children:

two

Occupation:



Town:


Wallingford

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Isaac Osborn

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


23

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:

journeyman hatter
"of fair character"

Town:


Wallingford (for the past year -- originally from Chatauque, NY)

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1831, Dec. 2




Hartland, WDS

P

Class:   probable

Crime:   poss CAS FRO / prob HOM MANSL

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  yes, both victim and suspect were often intoxicated

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:
2am

Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Morgan m. Lucinda Morgan


Weapon:  froze to death sometime between 9pm on 12/1 and 2am on 12/2.  No marks of violence on the body, but signs of a long struggle in the snow (although one count says that slight bumps were found on her head).


Circumstances:  in a field 40 to 50 rods from her house


Inquest:  Verdict:  jury could not agree.


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  no arrest.  insuff. evidence, although the death was suspicious

Source:  
Newspaper:  


Woodstock OBSERVER


BFP, 12/9/1831


VT COURIER, 12/9/1831:  "Supposed Murder. -- They body of Mrs. L. Morgan of Hartland, was found dead in the field, near her residence, last Friday.  It was immediately conjectured she was murdered by her husband, as it was known they had before had frequent difficulties, and quarrels, in some of hwich, arising generally from the intoxication of both, he is said to have threatened her life.  On Thursday afternoon she was at a neighbors, in a state of inebriety, from whence she returned in the evening; next morning she was discovered, between the two houses, a short distance from the road, over the wall, upon the upper side, dead.  Her situation--some slight marks of violence upon the head--previous threats--together with the fact that a certain over-coat, which she wore to the neighbors the night before, was found upon the bed of her husband, next morning, induced the suspicion that she had been murdered.  A jury of inquest were called--and a medical examination had, but the circumstances were so vague that the jury could not agree upon a verdict.  The subject will probably undergo a legal investigation, though we have not yet heard of the arrest of the husband."

Census:  

1830C:

Daniel Morgan WDS 026 Hartl.  

M 0,10,10,15,50  F 15.40,80

John Morgan   WDS 025 Hartl.  

M 40  F 0,0,0,5,10,15,30

1840C:  

Daniel Morgan 
WDS 440 Hartl.

M 15,20,20,30,60  F 20,50  Ag - 4

James Morgan
WDS 440 Hartl.

M 0,15,30  F 0,0,15,30  
Ag - 2

John Morgan
WDS 263 Windsor

M 50  F 50  Ag - 1

Genealogy:

VR-180:  no LM in Hartland

Accused:  

John Morgan 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Lucinda

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Hartland

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Lucinda Morgan

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. John

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Hartland

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1832, May 21




Canaan, ESS

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SMUGGLING REVENUE AGENT by SMUGGLER

Motive:  SMUGGLING

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Christopher H. [aka John] Stearns (aided and abetted by Isaac T. Beach and Sargent W. Beach) m. Dan Grout


Weapon:  pistol shot from CHS to thigh and hip.  d. few hrs.


Circumstances:  at the house of the two Beaches, the "confederates" of CHS.  ITB & SWB charged with aiding and abetting smuggling and CHS's escape.  Started a quarrel with the posse so CHS could feel when they were surrounded.  The two Grout brothers chased him.  CHS shot DG when he was overtaken.  The Grouts were unarmed.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  5/1832t


Court proceedings:  CHS fled into the woods, was not captured & never tried.  ITB & SWB:  pNG.  11/1832t:  ITB fNG.  SWB n.p.



NOTE:  12/13/1831, at Canaan:  Sargeant W. Beech and Nathaniel Beach charged with impeding John L. Ingalls, constable.

Source:  
Ess. Co. Ct. 5:  43

Ess. Co. Ct. files, 11/1832t

J. of Gen. Ass., 1832:  182; 1833:  222

Newspaper:  


FARMER'S HERALD (St. J), 5/30/1832:  "The father is a revenue officer and with the deceased and another son was residing in Canaan.  A Mr. Stearns, who for several years past has been notorious for his bold adventures as a smuggler, was ascertained to be in the house of a widow Beach.  It had become the duty of Esq. Grout if possible to apprehend him.  For this purpose a company consisting of himself, his two sons and others surrounded the house in the night and quietly waited for the coming day.  In the morning Stearns espied them through his window.  Two young men, sons of the widow, who were in the house, united with Stearns to assist him in effecting his escape.  For this purpose a loaded musket was repeatedly pointed from the windows at Grout and his company, threatening them with death unless they departed.  While these things were going on, Stearns with the gun in his hand leaped out at a window and made for the woods.  The unfortunate Grout pursued him and having nearly overtaken him, he turned and fired,--The whole contents of the musket entered his thigh near the hip, tearing the flesh and ashtteirng the bone in a horrid manner.  He survived about 18 hours.  Stearns continued his flight and the surviving brother pursued after and when near overtaking him, Stearns drew a pistol threatening him with instant death, unless he returned.  The pursuit was then abandoned, and Stearns escaped.  The Beaches, taking advantage of the confusion and distress, fled also.  We have no learned that either of the three has been taken."


FARMER'S HERALD (St. J), 6/13/1832:  the Beaches apprehended & indicted for murder.  Both released on $800 bond.  "It seems evident from that fact that in the opinion of the court, the evidence died not justify an indictment for murder."  Stearns not yet taken.


BFP, 6/1/1832:  CHS was a smuggler.  Had been arrested before.  Lost a nutmeg shipment two or three years before to revenue agents.  Vowed he'd kill anyone who'd try to take him.  In the past, had been imprisoned in Danville and in Burlington.


Danville NORTH STAR


New Hampshire Patriot, 6/4/1832:  HOMICIDE in VT:  "The Montpelier, Vt. Watchman states that a Mr. Grout, of Kirby, an officer of the customs, was shot, at Canaan, 21st inst. by a person conveying contraband goods from Canada.  A load of smuggled goods having passed, Mr. Grout, in company with his father and a brother, pursued the goods and overtook them near the house of a Mr. Beckett.  Two men came from the house, each armed with a musket.  One of them handed his musket to the person in possession of the goods, who instantly fired upon Mr. Grout, who fell, and in a few hours expired.  The three offenders escaped, closely pursued by the elder Grout and his remaining son."

Census:  

1830C:  no Grout or Stearns in ESS

Mary Beach  ESS 002 Canaan


M 15,20,20  F 30,50

Nathaniel Beach  ESS 002 Canaan  

M 10,15,15,20,40  F 5,10,40

1840C:

Nathaniel and N.B. [or A.B.] Beach  ESS 158 Canaan:  listed as one hhld

M 5,10,20,20,30,60  F 15,20,20,50  Ag - 1

Genealogy:

DG:  son of Theophilus Grout

Accused 1:  

Christopher H. Stearns 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

smuggler -- often arrested.  

Town:


transient

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Isaac T. Beach 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Sargent W. Beach

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Dan Grout

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

deputy revenue officer (his father was the revenue officer)

Town:


Canaan

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



[1834]




Starksboro, ADD

HIST

Class:   do not count

Crime:   LEGAL CHIARIVARI

Rela:    MARITAL HUSBAND by WIFE

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Mary Brown and her sister falsely accused of m. Aaron Brown (Mary's husband)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  j.p. examination held

Source:  

Bertha B. Hanson, Bertha's Book:  A View of Starksboro History (Starksboro:  Starksboro Village Meeting House Society, 1998), 51-2.


In the "Rounds District" [school dist. #16] located in the east section of Starksboro, which lies on the east side of Brown Hill overlooking Hanksville.  Mary, wife of Aaron Brown, acquired a home site from James Haskins in 1830.  "The family lived there fore several years.  One afternoon while they were engaged in making soap, Mary and Aaron quarreled violently.  Aaron disappeared.  Several weeks passed and he did not return.  Town officials, apprised of his disappearance by neighbors who had heard the quarrel, became alarmed and arrested Mary and her sister.  They were charged with murdering Aaron and making him into soap.  A Justice Court was set up to try the case.  It convened in the hall above Asahel Wentworth's old tavern in Starksboro Village.  An eyewitness describes the scene thus:  'Aaron's wife and her sister were seated in two chairs near the table.  Two Justices of the Peace were seated on the opposite side.  There was a sap bucket full of bones under the table, and another containing about two gallons of soft soap sat near it. . . .  The prisoners were clad in half worn calico dresses, the figure of which faded into the ground-work, giving the appearance of being stained with blood.'


After a two day trial it was proven conclusively that, when Aaron and his wife were quarreling, she screamed at him, 'You ought to be killed and made into soap!'  Moreover, it was evident that Mary and her sister had made more soap than their available supply of grease warranted.


At the climax of the trial the town's only physician, the much respected Dr. Levered Clark, was called in to examine the bones which had already been proven to be those used in the manufacture of the soap.  In the words of a spectator, 'He carefully examined bone after bone, and at last laid aside two small bones which he said were human.  He soon came to another large bone which he examined closely, and then, putting on his spectacles, he examined it very minutely for a long time.  The right hand which held the bone commenced trembling violently, and the doctor seemed much agitated.  He looked toward the prisoners and toward the court and said in a tremulous voice 'This is a piece of human skull . . . .'


The evidence was conclusive.  The prisoners began to weep.  The justices whispered together as they prepared their verdict.


Suddenly a shout was heard outside which grew louder as someone approached the hotel.  Hurried footsteps sounded on the stairs; the door burst open.  There stood a dark complexioned man of medium height--none other than Aaron Brown himself.


Thus ended Starkboro's first murder trial--the most exciting event in the long history of School District No. 16."

Story submitted by Berthan Hanson, 1968 Town Report

Newspaper:  

Census:  

Genealogy:

Accused 1:  

Mary Brown

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Aaron

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Starksboro

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Starksboro

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Aaron Brown

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Mary

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Starksboro

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



 [1835]






Berlin, WAS

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM PEDDLAR by STRANGERS

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  ___ Burnham (pseudonym), ___ Brown (pseudonym), & Charles Crane (an accessory after the fact) m. ___ Van Dusk (an aged Dutch peddlar of silks & jewelry).


Weapon:  piece of iron


Circumstances:  m. at night, a piece of iron to the skull.  Sank the body & wagon in Berlin Pond.  [Hint as to time of year:  it was illegal to fish at that time of year.]


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  no ind.

Source:  

Confession of Charles Crane, mss., Vermont Historical Society, Nov. 1849.  (CC's wife and sister knew the secret.)

Newspaper:  

Census:  

1830C:  

Wm Crane  WAS 318 Berlin

M 0,0,5,10,15,20,20,50  F 0,0,15,40

1840C:  

Charles Crane (ORL 335 Westfield); no Cranes in Berlin

M 20   Ag - 1

1850C:  no Charles Crane in northern Vt.

Genealogy:

no town hist. at VHS; nothing in Hemenway

Accused 1:  

___ Burnham (pseudonym)

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Montpelier

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___ Brown (pseudonym)

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Montpelier

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Charles Crane

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult
youth

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:


no

Occupation:

clerk

Town:


Montpelier

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___ Van Dusk

Ethnicity:

Dutch

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[65]

elderly

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

peddlar of silks and jewelry

Town:


transient

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1835, Aug. 12 to Aug. 20




Randolph, ORA

P

CT

TRACT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / AIK

Rela:    MARITAL STEPSON & HUSBAND by STEPMOTHER / WIFE

Motive:  STEALTH / RID -- INHERITANCE

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  8


HOM:  Rebecca (Cumins) Peake m. Ephraim Peake (her stepson) and aik ___ Peake (her husband)


Weapon:  poison:  arsenic in hash & drink on various occasions.  d. 8/20


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  12/1835t


Court proceedings:  fG.  DEATH.  Committed suicide, 2/8/1836

Source:  

Ora. Ct. Co. 13:  175


"Trial of Mrs. Rebecca Peake, indicted for the murder of Ephraim Peake." Montpelier, VT: E. P. Walton and Son, 1836.  (at the American Antiquarian Society)  McDade #737

Newspaper:  

RH 9/1/1835:  suggests an alternative theory of RP's motives.  EP lives with his father, an "elderly gentleman" in "low circumstances."  RP an "old lady" upset with EP's impending marriage & the prospect of his wife moving in.  Nothing about property, except that EP willed to his son fianceé $1500 as he lay dying.  Ditto:  New Hampshire Patriot, 9/7/1835:  XEROX 3:2.  fr. Woodstock (Vt) COURIER.

New Hampshire Patriot, 2/29/1836:  HOMICIDE in VT:  report that Mrs. Peake, to have been executed at Chelsea, VT on 2/26, d. 2/15 "of a cancerous affection in the throat.  Several days previous to her death, she attempted self-destruction by taking opium, but the great quantity swallowed caused it to operate as an emetic."


WHO TO BELIEVE?  EXAMINE THIS!!!

Census:  

1820C:  Jno. Peake ORA 216 Randolph

M 0,10,10,10,16,16,16,45,45  F 10,16,16,16,26

1830C:  Jno. Peake ORA 182 Randolph

M 10,20,60  F 15,40

Genealogy:

VR - 197:  

Ephraim Peake b. 10/3/1802 in Randolph, VT to Jno. and Sally Peake.  d. 8/20/1835, buried in East Bethel.

John Peake b. 3/16/1806 to Jno. and Sally Peake.

Jonathan Peake d. 11/28/1855 in East Bethel (age 93)

Jno. Peake m. Rebecca Cumins at Randolph, 3/8/1810.  Titus Eastman, minister

Accused:  

Rebecca (Cumins) Peake 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[60]

"old lady"

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Jonathan at Randolph, 3/8/1810

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farm wife

hhld  
"low circumstances" financially

Town:


Randolph

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Ephraim Peake 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


33

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


Randolph

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Jonathan Peake 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


70 

"elderly gentleman"

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. 1st to Sally; m. 2nd to Rebecca 3/8/1810

Children:

yes

Occupation:

farmer

hhld  
"low circumstances" financially

Town:


Randolph

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1835, Oct. 13




Vergennes, ADD

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    BROTHEL RIOTER by EMPLOYEE of TARGET OF RIOT

Motive:  CHIARIVARI / RIOT against HOUSE OF ILL FAME

Intox?:  poss.

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  2


HOM:  Jonathan Hall (aided and abetted by widow Grandy) m. Michael Dalton


Weapon:  gunshot to left side.  d. 10/15.  Gun, unspecified type.

Circumstances:  a riot of 20 to 30 men to demolish the widow Grandy's house, which they had accused of being a house of ill-fame.  She would not listen to warnings and leave town.  The mob broke in and tore down the house (and 5 others).  MD was shot just as they broke in by Hall, who was "employed" by the widow Hall to defend the house.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for mansl.  


Term:  12/1835t


Court proceedings:  "fury of mind" -- pNG.  fG.  7 yrs.  Pardoned, 10/1839.



NOTE:  the great year for riots, 1835

Source:  

Add. Co. Ct. 17:  36


J. of Gen. Ass., 1836:  290

Newspaper:  


Vergennes PALLADIUM:  not at VtStLib


Vergennes ENTERPRISE AND VERMONTER:  gap at VtStLib


RH, 10/27/1835 [errors in its account, however]

Census:  


1830C:  no Halls or Daltons in Vergennes
Many Grandys in ADD, but none in Vergennes:  esp. Panton -- & Goshen, Addison, Lincoln.


1840C:  no Jno. Hall or Daltons in Vergennes; Grandys in Addison, Panton, Goshen -- and:


D. Grandy
ADD 086 Vergennes

M 0,20,20  F 10,15  Mfg - 1

Genealogy:


no good hist. at VHS; nothing in Hemenway
Accused 1:  

Jonathan Hall 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


24

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

employee of widow Grandy's house of ill fame

Town:


Vergennes

Birthplace:

b. Tunbridge, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___ Grandy 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
widow

Children:




Occupation:

proprietor, house of ill fame

Town:


Vergennes
Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Michael Dalton

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:




Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1836, April 2 





Montpelier, WAS

CT

P

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL

Intox?:  yes, both

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Michael Morsey [Moracy] m. John Corrigan


Weapon:  heavy bludgeon


Circumstances:  Evening.  d. 4/3 at 6am.  Heavy bludgeon, 3 or 4 blows to the head.  Both men were probably drunk.  "wrangling and altercation" while drinking.  [street]


Inquest:  


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  5/1836


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG of mansl.  10 yrs.  Admitted 4/1836.  Pardoned 1841.

Source:  

A. M. Hemenway, The History of the Town of Montpelier (Montpelier:  A. M. Hemenway, 1882), 333.  In 1840, an Irishman killed another Irishman in a fight near the old Arch Bridge.  fG.  sentenced to state prison.  He was pardoned a few years later.  [ASSUME THIS IS THE 1836 MURDER]


Journal of the General Assembly (1836), 295.

Newspaper:  


Burlington Free Press, 4/26/18__ [sic?  notes say 1867]


Rutland Herald, 4/19/1836:  from the Patriot.  Sat. evening, 4/2.  Michael Morsey and John Corigan, both Irish, "probably" under the influence.  "some wrangling and altercation took place between them," when M struck C with heavy bludgeon to head.  Knocked him down.  2 or 3 blows followed.  d. next day, 6am.  Inquest:  death caused by blows from M.  Arrested, 2 mi. from the village, and Sun. morning.  Committed to trial.  "The case is said to have no precedent in the annals of this county."  [NHP, 4/25/1836:  ditto]


Rutland Herald, 5/10/1836:  the trial of MM just took place.  fG of mansl.  10 yrs.


Vermont Patriot, 4/18/1836:  mention of upcoming trial.  (other issues missing at VtStLib)


VT WATCHMAN (missing issues at VtStLib)

Census:  

1830C:  nothing

1840C:  nothing

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Michael Morsey

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


38

64"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

b. Ireland

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Corrigan

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

b. Ireland

Religion:




Organizations:



1837, Feb.




Cornwall, ADD

CT

P


NOTE:  copied to child homicide file

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM:  1 adult & 1 child
Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND and RELATIVE CHILD by FATHER

Motive:  ADULTERY

Intox?:  no

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Oliver Dana Thompson m. ____ Thompson and ___ Thompson


Weapon:  poison


Circumstances:  little suspicion at the time, but subsequent revelations led to exhumations & arrest of ODT


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  12/1837t


Court proceedings:  6/1838t:  hung jury (10g & 2ng).  12/1838t:  hung jury (5g & 7ng).  6/1839t:  np  "little hope of conviction"  Also:  attempted escape.

Source:  

Add. Co. Ct. rec.:  

12/1837 docket:  178

 6/1838 docket:  107 (hung jury), 110 (indicted for adultery)

12/1838 docket:   33 (hung jury); 34 (adultery con't)

 6/1839 docket:   25 (murd. np; ad. con't)

J. of Gen. Ass., 1838:  appendix B:  10-11

J. of Gen. Ass., 1839:  abstract, n.p.

Newspaper:  


RWH, 7/25/1837:  Dana Thompson djailed for poisoning his wife and child last Feb.  Very little suspicion at the time, but subsequent facts disclosed led to disinterment and arrest.  From the Press, 7/4.


RH 1/1/1839:  "Another Trial for Murder."  from the Middlebury People's Press.  trial of Thompson for murder of his wife.  Hung jury.  5 G & 7 NG.  Will probably nolle pros.  Little hope of conviction.


RH 6/26/1838:  T, accused of murdering wife & child, hung jury, 6/1838.  10 G, 2 NG.  Poisoning suspected about a year ago.  [& BFP 6/29]


Middlebury PEOPLE'S PRESS, 7/4/1837 [not at VtStLib]


VT ARGUS (Middlebury), 7/4/1837:  notice of arrest.  7/11 [7/18 & 7/25 missing] - 7/31/1837:  nothing more at VtStLib.


BFP 5/18/1838:  DT escaped from Middlebury jail.  Recaptured.


BFP 12/28/1838:  2nd Oliver Dana Thompson trial.  Hung jury.

Census:  

1830C:  Thompsons in ADD Cornwall

Joseph 294
M 0,15,20,40  F 10,15,30

1840C:  

O. Thompson  BEN 290 Pownal

M 20,50  F 50  Ag - 2

Joseph ADD 117 Cornwall

M 10,20,30,60  F 50  Ag - 2  Prof - 1  Navig - 1

Genealogy:

VR examined:  Oliver not there

Lyman Matthews, History of the Town of Cornwall, Vermont (Middlebury:  Mead and Fuller, 1862).


Gilbert T. Thompson (269):  b. Swanton, 12/20/1807, came to Cornwall in early childhood with his father.  Grad. fr. Middlebury, 1830.  For the next 3 yrs, preceptor of Add. Co. Grammar School & law student of Hon. Joel Doolittle.  Left to teach at Geneva College, NY -- then returned to the law.  d. Northampton, Mass., 1852.


Strong B. Thompson, Esq. (276):  for many yrs. a Lt. in U.S. Navy, engaged in active service.  Resigned because of ill health -- conducts a farm near Boston.

Accused:  

Oliver Dana Thompson

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:

one

Occupation:



Town:


Cornwall

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___ Thompson

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Oliver

Children:

one

Occupation:



Town:


Cornwall

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

___ Thompson

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:




Age:


child

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n


Occupation:



Town:


Cornwall

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1838, May 10




[Hardwick], CAL

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Martin Kibbe m. Saprhona Kibbe


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  bnf for murder.  ind. for mansl. & M-2, "malice prepense."  


Term:  12/1838t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG.



NOTE:  MK indicted for adultery, 6/1854t.  Bonds forfeit.  [Cal. Co. Ct. 14:  209]



NOTE:  MK ind. at the same term for disturbing a religious meeting.

Source:  
Cal. Co. Ct. 8:  492

J. of Gen. Ass. 1839:  xcix-c.  Says 10/1838 term, not 12/1838

Newspaper:  

Farmer's Herald, 5/2 - [5/16 missing] - 6/13/1832

St. Johnsbury CALEDONIAN, 12/1838t:  nothing

DANVILLE NORTH STAR 5/12 - 6/16/1838:  nothing; 12/1/1838 - [12/15 & 12/22 missing] - 1/12/1839:  nothing

Census:  

1830C:  CAL (367)  M 0,0,30  F 5,20

Genealogy:

VR - 150:  

Martin Kibbe (Hardwick) m. Lucy Webber, 12/4/1854.

Martha Kibbe (Hardwick) d. 8/7/1855 (age 19:7:17) (dau. Martin)

Lorin Kibbe (Hardwick) b. 4/1/1831.  Child of Martin.

Henry Martin Kibbe (Hardwick) b. 10/12/1826.  Child of Martin.

Daniel Austin Kibbe (Hardwick) b. 10/4/1828.  Child of Martin.

Accused:  

Martin Kibbe 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[37]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:



Town:


Hardwick

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Saprhona Kibbe

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[27]

Literate:




Marital Status:

[m]

Children:

[yes, several]

Occupation:



Town:


Hardwick

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1838, Oct. 2




Shaftsbury, BEN

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE SISTER-IN-LAW by BROTHER-IN-LAW

Motive:  INHERITANCE

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
7:15pm

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Archibald L. Bates m. Harriet Jane Bates


Weapon:  rifle shot to head


Circumstances:  victim was sitting in a chair in her living room; shot through a window while she was nursing her infant child.  He killed his brother's wife; jealous of his brother, dispute over inheritance, etc.  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  [court records lost].  Indicted for murder.  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  Executed 1/8/1839

Source:  

J. of Gen. Ass., 1839:  n.p.

Newspaper:  

VT Gazette (Bennington)

BFP, 2/22/1839.  The night before his execution, AB made full confession of this and his other lesser crimes.  20,000 attended AB's execution on Weds., 1/8, in Bennington.


RH 10/9/1838:  HJB shot dead through a window sometime last week, while she sat in a chair nursing a baby in her arms, unaware of danger.  Ball entered her forehead and came out the back of her head.  Why?  "dispute about some property left by a deceased [sic] parent."  Murderer already arrested and in jail.


RH 10/16/1838 (T):  from Vermont Gazette of 10/9:  T evening last, long resentment toward innocent victim.  7pm.  Mrs. B "highly esteemed."  "an amiable and accomplished woman."  Husband and his parents distraught.  Record of the inquiry:



Alvin Bates, the father of Archibald:  had a conversation with his son, Archibald, in orchard west of the house in respect to Archibald's future portion of the property.  Archibald "appeared quite agitated and out of humor; he then spoke of my son Philorman's wife, and said that she should not live on this place and enjoy this property if it cost him his life; he then remarked I should see trouble that night."  he then went to the house, talked to his mother, shook hands, and bade her farewell.  "After Archibald had left I requested my son Philorman to go into my room with me, went into a bedroom in the northeast corner of the house, I repeated my conversation with Archibald and what he had said, and proposed that we should give him some money or buy him a place to live on, and we concluded to do so; at this moment I heard the report of a gun."  Moonlight, could not see who it was.  Rand after him.  The baby was crying.  Philorman was already raising his bleeding wife when Alvin returned to the house.  Said Archibald had threatened her before.



Philorman Bates, the brother of Archibald:  came in from work .5 hr. before sunset.  Spoke with father immediately.  Heard gun.  Caught the baby, who was falling from his wife's arms.  Handed the child to Mr. Davis and with his help set his wife on a bed.  Knew it was Archibald running away.  "I have heard prisoner making threats again the life of the deceased, between 3 and 4 years since he told me if he did not remove my wife he would be the death of her, if he lost his own life in consequence; and she did leave the house."



Heman Davis, the hired man:  corroborates the story.  Wit. often handled the baby for Mrs. B.  PB's mother also lived in the house.  Shot 7:15pm, 10/2.



Gardner C. Bates (age 11):  saw AB get the gun from the woodshed.



Minerva Bates:  ditto GCB's test.



Sylvanus Bates:  Rollin Blackmur informed him that Mrs. B was shot.  Also saw AB get the gun.



Rollin C. Blackmur:  found AB at SB's house.  AB was living there.


The Grand Jury then indicted AB for murder.


RH 12/18/1838:  in Shaftsbury, Oct. last, Mrs. Harriet Jane Bates m. by Archibald L. Bates, brother of her husband, Philorman Bates, Esq.  Trial last week.  To hang 2/3/1839.  Ed. -- acknowledges that readers want more news of the trial, but little information available from the Bennington papers.


RH 1/1/1839:  little news on the Bates trial.  Bennington paper reported only that the jury took 15 minutes to deliberate.  Ed. expects that a tract will be published.

Census:  

1830C:  Bates families in Shaftsbury

Arvin (071)
M 20,60  F 15,60

Ebenezer (071) M 10,15,20,60  F 20,50

Silvanus (071) M 0,5,30  F 0,0,30

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Archibald L. Bates 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

no

Occupation:

[farm laborer]

Town:


Shaftsbury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Harriet Jane Bates

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:

1 ch.

Occupation:

farm wife [her husband inherited his father's farm]

Town:


Shaftsbury

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1838, Oct. 4




Rutland, RUT

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / ATT SUI

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  JEALOUSY RAGE / ADULTERY of wife

Intox?:  yes

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Henry Damon m. Sophia Damon


Weapon:  razor, slashed throat.  d. inst.


Circumstances:  dwelling of "ill fame" in the "Hayti" neighborhood on the Rutland/Mendon line.  The Damons apparently lodged there.


Inquest:  i.d. 10/5.  Verdict:  murder


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  9/1839t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  to hange.  Commuted 10/29/1839 to LIFE.  d. 8/27/1875, buried in Cemetery Grave #2 at the prison.



ADULTERY:  Sophia Damon (wife Henry) of Sherburne, 3/28/33 at Sherburne, did carnally know Socrates Clark of Sherburne.  Adultery.  Rut. Co. Ct. file, 4/1833t, f.c.  A-H, L-WL.

Source:  
Rut. Co. Ct. 27:  129

Rut. Co. Ct. docket, 9/1839t:  54

Rut. Co. Ct. judgment files, bound volume, n.p.

J. of Gen. Ass. 1839:  abstract, n.p.

Newspaper:  


RH 10/9/1838:  a quarrel over visitors.  Inquest early last F morning to view the body of a female lying dead at a dwelling house.  2 mi. out of Rutland village at a place called "Hayti."  Sophia Damon murdered by her husband, Henry, who cut her throat.


RH characterizes the house as a house of "ill fame."  "had been visited that night by wretches equally detestable in our view with some of those who dwelt therein, but not so well known."  SD & HD quarreled "in relation to the visitors" -- in the affray HD got a razor while his wife was in bed and cut her throat from ear to ear.  Attempted to cut his own throat (suicide), but failed.


Admitted the crime and a desire to end his own life, "not having any desire to live longer."  Some of the visitors had brought a jug of rum (HD drank 2 or 3 times).  Another man and his wife were in another bed in the same room when the quarrel broke out.  This man, who belonged to the house, remained in bed during the murder; his frightened wife fled the house.  Obstructed view, dark, & no light but the moon.  A woman in another room in the house was frightened by the racket.  She leaped from a window and ran to a neighbor's house.  Did not know what went on.  HD arrested & his wounds dressed.  Arraigned on Sat.  (Trial next Sept. at the earliest).


NOTE:  a strange gathering of couples, or more a normal occurance than the RH ed. admits?

Census:  


830C:  nothing

Genealogy:


VR-70:  HD:  b. Woodstock, VT 1/2/1809.  Son of Samuel and Alice (Marsh).  VR - 71:  nothing on Sophia.

Accused:  

Henry Damon 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


32

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Sophia

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Rutland

Birthplace:

b. Woodstock, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Sophia Damon

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


[w]
[race uncertain -- may be mixed]

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Henry

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Rutland

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1839, Dec. 5




Braintree, ORA

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM & AIK 

Rela:   SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND / AIK BROTHER and SISTER by BROTHER

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS

Intox?:  no

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Benjamin Franklin Kellam m. Sally (aka Sarah) Kellam (his wife) and aik. on ___ Kellam (his brother) and ___ Kellam (his sister)


Weapon:  razor, cut throat


Circumstances:  cellar of their house


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for murder


Term:  _/1840t


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fNG -- insane.  np.  Confined in the town jail at Braintree because he was dangerous to the community.  Charged to Braintree.  Discharged, 12/1847.

Source:  

Ora. Ct. Co. 14:  110; 16:  108


J. of Gen. Ass. 1840, lxxxv

Newspaper:  

BFP 1/8/1841:  fNG because of insanity.  [from the Watchman article]

VT WATCHMAN, 1/4/1841:  proof of insanity so strong "that the lawyers declined arguing the case."  Also looked at 12/16/1838 to 2/10/1840:  nothing


Exeter Newsletter, 1/14/1840:  Franklin Killum of Braintree, VT murdered his wife, Sally, on Th., Dec. 5.  "Thanksgiving Day.  cause RUM!"  [does not seem an accurate account]


New Hampshire Patriot, 12/30/1839:  WIFE MURDER in VT:  at Braintree, VT, 12/6, Franklin Killum on his wife Sally (27).  "He sent her down cellar on some errand, followed her, and struck her several blows on the head with a shovel, which not proving fatal, he followed her to a bedroom, and cut her throat with a razor.  He then made an assault upon his brother and sister, but was overpowered by the former, who wrested the razor from him, and secured him.  It is probable that he intended to have murdered the whole family."  Jailed in Chelsea.  Vermont Patriot, which said, "We learn from various sources" of the crime.

Census:  


1830C & 1840C:  nothing

Genealogy:


VR - 147:  nothing

Accused:  

Benjamin Franklin Kellam 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Sally

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Braintree

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Sally (aka Sarah) Kellam

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


27

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Benjamin F.

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Braintree

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

___ Kellam

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Braintree

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

___ Kellam

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Braintree

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1839, Dec. 5




Shelburne, CHI

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
early evening [left Charlotte Four Corners at 2pm]

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Coates Barnes m. Hewin Safford


Weapon:  blows to head  [club]


Circumstances:  in the woods on the farm of Jonathan Lyon, 1 mi. north of the village.  Probably a robbery, which netted $0.25.  HS was a migrant farm worker from Canada who worked in Rutland Co. in the summer of 1839.  He was travelling home in Dec., 1839 to visit his father, who was ill.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  fled.  Made a death bed confession, years later.  Other witnesses denied the authenticity of the confession.

Source:  
Newspaper:  

New Hampshire Patriot:  1/10/1866:  HOM in VT:  25 yrs ago, Mr. Safford murdered in Shelburn, VT.  Murdered never detected.  Few days ago, murderer died in Canada & just before his death confessed the deed.

RH 3/10/1840:  from BFP, 3/6:  HS (c. 35) was at work in Rutland Co. the past summer.  On his way to visit his sick father in Canada in Dec., 1839.  Last seen 12/5/1839 in Charlotte Four Corners at 2pm, headed to Shelburne.  Body found 2/27 in the woods 1 mi. north of the village.  Blows to head the cause of death.  Robbery.  Some items taken, other scattered.  Had little on him when robbed.


RH 3/17/1840:  brass watch and 2 $100 notes missing.


BFP, 3/6/1840 & 12/29/1865


RDH, 1/1, 1/15, 2/27/1866 (account denied)


RDH 1/1/1866:  HOM:  25 yrs ago a Mr. Safford murdered in Shelburne, VT:  death bed confession of murderer in Canada, according to Burlington SENTINEL: no name given.  Had been unsolved.


RDH 1/13/1866 (Sat):  HOM details (1/15):  Safford killed by a Canadian, Coates Barnes, who had been working for Chas Westover of Johnson & later for Cyrus H. Parker of Eden.  Fell in w/Safford while roving in n Vt. Learning that Safford had just received $100, & “not knowing that he had lent the money, he murdered him for it;” but only found the note in Safford’s possession!  BFP 1/12


RDH 2/27/1866 (T):  HOM:  M.J. Deming of Frelighsburgh, C.E. has written to Burlington SENTINEL to deny accuracy of Mr. Stuart’s acct in that paper of Jan. 12, stating that Coates Barnes confessed to the killing of Safford.  WHERE DOES THIS LEAVE IT?  BFP 2/23


BFP 12/29/1865:  HOMICIDE CONFESSION:  man in Canada East near line recently on death bed confessed to murder of Mr. Safford 25 yrs ago on farm of Jonathan Lyon in Shelburne.  Dissolute & drunken man, lured Safford into woods off main road to Burlington & killed him for 25 cents.

Census:  

1830C & 1840C:  nothing

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Coates Barnes 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


transient

Birthplace:

b. Canada East

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Hewin Safford

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


35

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

farm laborer

Town:


transient

Birthplace:

b. Canada

Religion:




Organizations:



[1840]




WDS or ORA

P

Class:   do not count

Crime:   poss HOM / poss APOCHRYPHAL STORY

Rela:    NONDOM ROBBER by VICTIM

Motive:  SELF-DEFENSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Jake Walker m. an Indian man


Weapon:  strangled, noose around neck


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  none

Source:  
Newspaper:


VW 5/11/1887 (W):  HOM STORY in VT:  TRUE or FALSE?  "Nearly half a century ago the mail between Boston and Canada was carried part of the way by stage.  Old Jake Walker, once a resident of Derby, drove in those days a four-horse coach between Concord, N. H., and Montreal, and on one of his early trips the following incident occurred.  Walker had started from Concord with his mail and one passenger, and when two days out met in the woods an Indian and half-breed, who by their close scrutiny gave Walker to understand that he must look out.  Night found them on the east side of the Green Mountains and a number of miles from their stopping place.  As they were preparing to descend a long hill a lurch of the coach told the driver that some one was climbing on behind.  Walker gave the reins to his companion and, taking a baggage rope, one end of which was secured to the wagon pole and theother end formed into a slip-loose, he climbed on top of the coach.  In the moonlight he could just discover two figures, with guns and knives ready for quick use.  Inspired by a knowledge of their fall Walker dropped the noose over the head of what he now recognized as the Indian, and at the same instant gave the signal for the horses to be rushed down the mountain.  The half-breed escaped, but a grave marked by a huge pine is the only monument of the treacherous Indian."  Free Press
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused:  

Jake Walker

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

stage driver

Town:


Derby

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1841, Aug. 11




Wells, RUT

P

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    TAVERN / STREET CUSTOMER by CUSTOMER
Motive:  QUARREL
Intox?:  prob. both

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Orson Cone (and Cephas Wilcox, accessory) m. Martin Beebe


Weapon:  beaten.  Found "bruised and speechless."  d. 1.5 hrs.  took hold of both legs & pounded MB's head, neck, spine, hands, etc. on the floor of a stable.  MB eventually died of fractures.  [phys]


Circumstances:  in the stable of John Howe, innkeeper.  Quarreled in a tavern & went outside.


Inquest:  


Indictment:  ind. for mansl.  


Term:  9/1841t


Court proceedings:  jailed.  pNG.  OC:  fG.  15 yrs. & $58c.  pardoned 11/1844.  CW:  con't.  4/1844t:  dropped after that term.

Source:  

Rut. Co. Ct. 27:  485


Rut. Co. Ct. files:  9/1841 C.C. jdgt files [bound v.] state cases:  100-126.  No. 104 (9/41)  


Rut. Co. Ct. Judgment Files (bound), 9/1841t #104 (Cone); 4/1842t #117 (Wilcox); 4/1844t #98 (both)


J. of Gen. Ass. 1841:  116

Newspaper:  


VT WATCHMAN, 8/30/1841:  corres. to the RUTLAND HERALD, dtl Wells, 8/13:  on W of this week, Martin Beebe found "much bruised and nearly speechless in the stable of John Howe, the innkeeper" of Wells.  MB d. 1.5 hrs.  Inquest:  testimony, exhumation of the body.  Unanimous opinion:  MB d. as a result of "severe treatment" by Orson Cone of Poultney (principal) & Cephas Wilcox (accessory).  Both jailed.  "Cone and Wilcox were seen to follow the deceased to the shed, and were gone about 15 minutes and returned together, and when asked where Martin was, said they had floored him.  The principal in the case insulted and abused said Bebee much previous to their leaving the house."


RH  8/17/1841 (T):  the original.


BFP 8/20/1841:  no new details.  ditto.

Census:  

1840C:

Enoch Cone
RUT 167 Wells

M 40  F 30  Ag - 1

Jennet Wilcox
RUT 111 Pawlet

M 15  F 40  Ag - 1

Nathan Wilcox
RUT 108 Pawlet

M 50  F 15,40  Mfg - 1

Levi Beebe
RUT 168 Wells

M 5,40  F 0,10,20,20,30,70  Ag - 1

Genealogy:

Hiland Paul, History of Wells, Vermont (Rutland:  Tuttle & Co., 1869), 64.  Martin Beebe m. Lucinda Huff.  Had 2 ch. & then they moved west, but she died soon after they moved, so he returned to Wells & d. there in 1841.  Ch:  Ozias, Jr.; Harriet m. Thomas Hall; Abigail m. Amos Winchell.

nothing in Pawlet or Poultney hist. at VHS

Accused 1:  

Orson Cone 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


27

64"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Pawlet

Birthplace:

b. Poultney, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Cephas Wilcox 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Pawlet

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Martin Beebe

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

widower (m. Lucinda Huff)

Children:

3

Occupation:



Town:


Wells

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1841, Sept.






Berlin, WAS

HIST

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Chauncey B. Nye m. John Smith (a "foreigner")


Weapon:  with wooden bludgeon


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  Fled.  Warrant issued for arrest.  

Source:  

Letter from William W. Cadwell, j.p., to Silas H. Jennison, Sept., 1841.  A warrant written at John Kelley's Inn at Montpelier to SHJ as sheriff.  New York State Library.

Newspaper:  

VT PATRIOT, missing at VtStLib

VT WATCHMAN, 8/2 - 10/18/1841.  nothing

VW 8/5/1885 (W):  HOM in VT?  SAME FELLOW?  WAS:  Berlin town notes:  Chauncy Nye of Peoria, Ill., is visiting his old home after an absence of nearly 30 yrs.

Census:  

1840C:  many Nyes in Washington Co.  No John Smith in Berlin or Montpelier, though several in Washington Co.

C. B. Nye 
WAS 248 Berlin

M 10,20  F 30  Ag - 2

Chester Nye 
WAS 248 Berlin




M 10,15,50  F 10,15,20,40,40  Ag - 3

John Smith 
WAS 259 Moretown  

M 0,20  F 0,20  Ag - 1

John Smith Jr. WAS 230 Barre

M 15,20,50,80  F 20,20,40,70  Ag - 3  Mfg - 1

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Chauncey B. Nye

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Berlin

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

John Smith

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

b. outside USA 
"a foreigner"

Religion:




Organizations:



1841, Sept. 23




Fairfield, FRA

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL

Intox?:  yes, prob. both

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  William Quinn m. Hugh Murphy


Weapon:  pocket knife to chest.  (had been cutting tobacco when attacked).  d. 1 hr.


Circumstances:  a quarrel.  HM threatened to kill WQ & attacked WQ with his fists.  WQ retaliated with a knife.


Inquest:  i.d. 9/24.  WQ claims self-defense.  Denies that he had killed a young man in Upper Canada and had fled to the U.S. to avoid prosecution.


Indictment:  ind. for mansl.  


Term:  4/1842t


Court proceedings:  lst count:  pNG.  fG.  7 yrs.  pardoned 12/1844.  2nd count:  9/1842t:  con't

Source:  
Fra. Co. Ct.  v. Q:  69, 153.

Fra. Co. Ct. docket, 4/1842t:  180

J. of Gen. Ass.  1841:  145

Newspaper:  


Burlington Free Press, 10/1/1841:  two Irishmen in an altercation, Q & M.  M threatened to kill Q and began to strike with his fists.  Q was cutting tobacco with his pocket knife at the time of the first blow.  Q struck M in the breast with the knife.  d. 1 hr.  Rum "has acted its part in this case, as is usual in all such cases."


New Hampshire Patriot, 10/7/1841:  HOMICIDE in VT:  man named Murphey killed in Fairfield, VT, 9/23, in a fight, caused by rum.


VT WATCHMAN, 11/4/1841:  ditto

Census:  

1840C:  no WQ

HM FRA 295 Fairfield

M 5,30  F 0,0,30  Ag - 1

Genealogy:

Accused:  

William Quinn 

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


27

67"

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Fairfield

Birthplace:

b. Ireland

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Hugh Murphy

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

[b. Ireland]

Religion:




Organizations:



1841, Nov. 6




Norwich, WDS

P

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  James Sweeney m. Melinda (Cumings) Sweeney (his wife)


Weapon:  blows to the head  [[hys]


Circumstances:  found dead in the garden of her home


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  fled.  Captured.



NOTE:  had been ordered several months earlier to post bond for good behavior toward his wife, but he could not post the bond, & so absconded

Source:  

M. E. Goddard and Henry V. Partridge, A History of Norwich, Vermont (Hanover:  The Dartmouth Press, 1905), 152, 267.  (mentioned)

Newspaper:  

BFP, 11/19/1831:  supposed she was murdered the night before she was found (11/6), by her husband.  

New Hampshire Patriot:  11/25/1841:  MURDER:  Haverhill Republican.  HORRID MURDER.  Murdered in Norwich, Vt, on the night of the 6th inst., Mrs. Sweney.  She returned to Norwich from Hanover on Saturday evening, and was discovered in the garden [of an adjoining residence] Sabbath morning with her head mangled in the most brutal manner.  The murderer is supposed to be James Sweney, her husband, for whose apprehension a suitable reward will be paid, together with all necessary expenses.  His height is about 4 feet 4 to 6 inches, thick set, from 65 to 70 years of age, hair nearly white, dark complexion, cross-eyed, an irishman by birth, and speaks with considerable of a brogue, usually wears a blue frock coat and white hat."  Argus Spectator, 11/20/1841:  ditto.


Vermont CHRONICLE, 11/17/1841:  dtl Hanover, 11/8/1841.  "Mr. Tracy, - On the morning of Sunday, Nov. 7th, Mrs. Sweeny, who lived four miles north of Norwich . . . on the Thetford road, was found dead in the garden attached to the house, her head horribly beaten in and the bar of the house lying near and bloody - the presumption is that her husband, James Sweeny, an Irishman, was the perpetrator.  Some months ago, Sweeny was complained of for abusing his wife, and had to [post] bonds for good behaviour, but unable to give bonds he absconded, threatening at the time vengeance on his wife for testifying against him.



On Saturday, Mrs. Sweeny spent the day in Hanover working at the Hotel and returned home at night.  A female acquaintance spent the evening with her and went home leaving her alone.  Sweeny was seen in Hanover Friday and Saturday.  Probably he lurked at the house until his wife was alone and them killed [her].



As yet no track has been obtained of the murderer by the pursuers.  Mrs. Sweeny was a native of Norwich.  Her husband is understood to be a drinking man.  J.R.



Compelled by cold and hunger, Sweeny has surrendered himself, having been concealed in the neighborhood.

Census:  

1820C:  JS  WDS 176 Norw.   

M 26  F 26,45  Blk-1  Ag-1

1830C:  JS  WDS 213 Norw.

M 5,50  F 20,40,60


1840C:  nothing

Genealogy:

VR-250:  m. in Norwich, 9/6/1818, James Sweeny and Melinda Cumings, by a j.p.

James Sweeney, Jr. b. to James and Melinda Sweeney in Norwich, 12/11/1820

Accused:  

James Sweeney 

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[67]
65 or 70

64"
nearly white hair, thick set, cross-eyed, dark complexion

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. to Melinda (Cumings)

Children:

yes

Occupation:



Town:


Norwich

Birthplace:

b. Ireland

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Melinda (Cumings) Sweeney (his wife)

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. James

Children:

yes

Occupation:

worked at a hotel in Hanover

Town:


Norwich

Birthplace:

b. Norwich, VT

Religion:




Organizations:



1842, Aug. 30




Georgia, FRA

INQ

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  probably:  JP a heavy drinker

Day of week:
T

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  James Powell m. Sylvia Powell


Weapon:  violence, bruises to head


Circumstances:  [phys]


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  Arrested, but insuff. evidence.  No indictment.

Source:  

Fra. Co. Ct. v. Q:  155

Newspaper:  


St. Albans MESSENGER, 9/7/1842:  9/1842 through 12/1842 not at VtStLib.


VT PHOENIX, 9/19/1842:  SP disappeared T night.  Her body was found in the river near her home on Friday morning.  JP a farmer "well off in this world's goods" -- owns one of the most beautiful farms on the Lamoille River.  "have for several years lived on very peaceable terms" -- suspect that rum played a part "in causing contention and unhappiness."

Census:  

1840C:  

JP  FRA 240 Georgia

M 10,20,60  F 0,5,10,20,40  Ag - 1

Genealogy:

VR - 205:  nothing

Accused:  

James Powell 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[67]

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Sylvia

Children:

yes, several

Occupation:

farmer
--  owns large farm

Town:


Georgia

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Sylvia Powell

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[47]

Literate:

yes, several

Marital Status:

m. to James

Children:




Occupation:

farm wife

Town:


Georgia

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1842, Sept. 19




Windham, WDH

P

CT

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE BROTHER by BROTHER

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS / FAMILICIDE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Charles Spaulding m. Gilman Spaulding


Weapon:  axe to head.  d. few hrs.


Circumstances:  in a shed


Inquest:  


Indictment:  bnf for murder by reason of insanity


Term:  5/1843t


Court proceedings:  arrested.  Partially insane.  Sent to the asylum.

Source:  

Wdh. Co. Ct. 14:  177-178


Kidder, History of New Ipswich, New Hampshire (1852), 249.

Newspaper:  


BPF, 9/30/1842:  from Keene Sentinel:  CS has been partially insane the past few yrs.  He wandered away a short time ago from his home in New Ipswich to Windham.  Last week his brother went to Windham to bring him back.  He was found on 9/20 [sic?].  He slyly took out an axe and bludgeoned his brother to death.  "On Sunday morning he was standing in a shed with him seemingly peaceable and quiet, when he received on his head a wound inflicted with an axe by the mad man, which caused his death within a few hours."  Arrested; in Newfane jail awaiting trial.  "appears to be wholly unconcerned, says he is glad that he killed him and intends to kill another brother and sister."


VT PHOENIX, 9/23/1842


New Hampshire Patriot, 10/13/1842:  HOM in VT:  Nashua Telegraph:  Mr. Gilman Spaulding of New Ipswich, NH, k. by an insane brother in Windham, VT, last week.  Brother in jail in Newfane, "in a most pitable state of insanity."

Census:  

1830C:  Spauldings in HIL New Ipswich

Isaac 538

James 538

1840C:  no Spauldings in New Ipswich

1850C:  Spauldings in HIL New Ipswich

George 281

Isaac  287



James  281

Josiah W.
287

Mary

273

Sarah B.
278

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Charles Spaulding 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


New Ipswich, NH

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Gilman Spaulding

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


New Ipswich, NH

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1842, Oct. 16




Fairfield, FRA

P

CT

INQ

HIST


NOTE:  copied to child homicide file

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM: 1 adult & 1 child
Rela:    SPOUSE WIFE by HUSBAND and RELATIVE INFANT by FATHER

Motive:  ADULTERY by HUSBAND / INHERITANCE

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Eugene Clifford m. Elizabeth (Gilmore) Clifford and Mary Ann Clifford


Weapon:  drowned in Fairfield Pond when boat overturned.


Circumstances:  the pond was shallow


Inquest:  lst inq. verdict:  acc. drowning.  2nd inq. verdict:  willful murder.


Indictment:  yes, murder


Term:  4/1843


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG.  Death.  To hang 4/21/1844.  "The execution of the sentence was not ordered by the governor, and the prisoner became a raving maniac, and, in this condition, died."  [town history]  Declared insane, 1843.  d. 3/1847, buried in prison yard.



NOTE:  Fra. Co. Ct. doc., 4/1843t:  220, 221, 222.  Forgery charge agst. EC.

Source:  

Fra. Co. Ct. v. Q:  196, 198.  Inq. says that Mary Ann & Eliz. were drowned accidentally by falling out of the boat.


L. L. Dutcher, The History of St. Albans, Vt. (St. Albans:  Stephen E. Royce, 1872), 300-301:  EC & family lived in north part of Fairfield.  A deserter from the British army & had come to Fairfield, where he m. Mrs. Elizabeth Gilmore, a widow who owned a 50 ac. farm.  "He had been told, and, being an ignorant man probably believed, that if he outlived his wife and child, this farm would be his own, and it is supposed that he then formed the purpose ofbring about their death.*  He invited his wife to cross the pond with him in a log-canoe and she was never seen again alive.  In the course of an hour or two, he came back to the neighborhood with the report that his wife, in the act of adjusting a shawl around her infant, had fallen out of the canoe and that both were drowned.  Mrs. Clifford wore a silk shawl, a valuable one which she had brought over from Ireland, and the infant was wrapped in a woolen blanket shawl.  Thebodies were recovered the next day.  That of theinfant had floated quite a distance and that of the mother was hooked up in water about 10 feet deep.  But the shawls were not upon the bodies nor could they be found.  This increased the suspicion, already existing, that Clifford was the murderer."  The shawls would have to have floated, but they could not be found after "vigorous search."  "Clifford was in the charge of keepers and the search, for the following day, was given up.  On the following night the wife of Mr. Stephen Marvin dreamed that she started to look for the shawls, that she crossed the road in front ofher dwelling, got over the fence, then went through a field to a second fence athwart which a large hemlock tree had fallen; that she got over this fence, walked a short distance on the prostrate tree, and into a patch of woods where threes had been overturned by the wind; thence passed to ground, near the shore of the pond, covered by a thick growth of brush; and that there, in a shallow hole in the sand, and but partially covered, she found the shawls."  Her husband declined the next morning to follow her to the shawls, because "he thought so lightly of the dream," but a neighbor, named Bailey, agreed to accompany her.  Found the shawls "still wet as when the murderer buried them two days before" -- exactly where the dream said they would be.


* In an unfinished account of this murder and trial by the late Col. Perley, among his papers for Fairfield, it is stated that Clifford was reputed guilty at the time, of an intimacy with a woman whom he thought he could marry if he could only remove his wife,--Ed."

Newspaper:  


BFP, 11/18/1842:  dtl Fairfield, Sun., 10/16:  fr. the St. Albans paper:  living near Fairfield pond, asked wife to accompany him on a visit to a friend, on opposite side of the pond, saying that they had been specifically invited (they in fact had not been).  Cold & unpleasant day.  Mrs. C. objected to going, but was prevailed upon.  Took along infant.  Boat upset.  She & infant drowned, EC survived.


Suspicious circumstances came to light, so coroner revised lst verdict of "accidental drowning" to "wilful murder."  "Clifford's story is that in consequence of a strong wind theboat rocked so violently that his wife and child fell into the water and that in trying to recover them he also fell in, and in falling, upset the boat.  He further says, that when he rose to the surface of the water he saw the child and heard its cries, but as he was some distance from the shore, he made no effort to save either the child or mother, and with the assistance of the two oars he swam ashore.  When landed safely himself, he made no effort to save them; and instead of going to a house near by, he went about two miles around the pond to a near neighbor and communicated the death of the mother and child."  "Some suspicious circumstances fcoming to light a second inquest was called" -- the murder verdict returned.


St. Albans paper:  issues missing at VtStLib


BFP 5/5/1843:  EC fG.


RH 5/2/1843:  ditto.

Census:  

1840C:  no Clifford or Clefford in FRA Co.

Betsey Gilmore
FRA 293 Fairf.

M 0,0,5,10  F 0,5,10,30  Ag - 1

Genealogy:

VR-57 and VR-58:  nothing

Accused:  

Eugene Clifford

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Elizabeth

Children:

yes, infant


Occupation:

farmer
[owned 50 ac. farm with his wife]

Town:


Fairfield

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

deserter from British Army

Victim 1:  

Elizabeth (Gilmore) Clifford

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:

m. to Eugene, after being widowed upon the death of her first husband

Children:

yes, an infant

Occupation:

farm wife

Town:


Fairfield

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Mary Ann Clifford

Ethnicity:

[nb English / Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

f


Age:


0

infant

Literate:

n


Marital Status:

s

Children:

n


Occupation:

none
Town:


Fairfield

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1844, Apr. 15




Isle La Motte, GI

HIST

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / AIK

Rela:   HHLD HOUSEWIFE/LANDLADY (as a third-party intervening to defend the maid) by PEDDLAR/BOARDER who boarded with the family (who began his assault by attempting to kill the maid)

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
11pm

Days to death:  60

'two months' after she was stabbed


HOM:  ___ Pipershine m. Barbara A. (Hill) Pike & aik on Pruda Springer


Weapon:  seven knife wounds on BAP


Circumstances:  at the Pike's stone house


Inquest:  


Indictment:  


Term:  


Court proceedings:  bnf for murder:  insane.  Sent to the asylum in Brattleboro.

Source:  

Allen L. Stratton, History of the Town of Isle La Motte, Vermont (Barre, Northlight Studio Press, 1984), 384-389.


PHOTO of their stone house, p. 389


Memoir of Albina (Pike) Wheeler, b. 1830, written in 1895:  "Now in 1843 there was a man by the name of Pipershine came on the Isleland to peddle.  He had his goods in a tin trunk, jewelry, pins, needles and such things, and he came to our house and put up while he went over the Isleland.  It was but a short time before we thought he was not all right, but he had purchast two acres of land of father and hired him to build a small house for him on it.  But long before it was done we found out that he was of[f] his base.  Very often he would talk at random but never dreamed that he was dangerous.  But it so happened he was.



The March next spring my father was called to court on a jury, and this [was] the time for the Peddler to get in his work, there being only one boy 16 left at home with a hired boy about the same age, a hired girl, Mother and her four little girls, the oldest 14, this was Maria, that were to bed and assleep, but Mother and the maide with Anna (then ten years old).



Now I will give you a description of the house, so you can see how it was a little better.  On the first floor was a kitchen, two bedrooms, a pnatry and Sellor.  The boys slept in one of these bedrooms and the foure girls in the other.  A flight of 13 steps took us to the next story where we entered the dining room.  On the south of this was the parlor, with two more bedrooms on the west, one of these was where the Pedlar slept.  Father and Mother had their bed in the dining room in winter, and it was used also for a sitting roome.



Now Mother, the maid, Pruda Springer, with Anna, were sitting waiting for Father's return.  Mother told Pruda to step in the Parlor and get her some garments that hung on the bars that needed a little mending.  When she came out he followed close behind her.  She threw the clothes on the bed and started to go and call the boys from below, but he caught her in the entry at the head of the stairs and he cut her left arm and she called out that he was killing her.  Mother caught up the fire shovel and started to go to her assistance.  But when she had half way accross the roome he caught her and stabed her, cut one arm to the bone, gave her seven bad wounds, one in the shoulder, one just above the hip, one under the arm, where he broke the point of the knife in her brest bone.  There wer seven woundsin all and she still fought him, through him to the floor and got hold of the handle of th eknife and rung it from the blade as he held on to it.  The flesh was all of[f] the insaide of his hand where she rung it getting it from him.



Sister Ann called the boys, as they came in the room he began to beg for his life.  They put him back in the parlor and fastened it, then layed Mother on the bed.  Then Sidney with a horse went for father while brother William took his gun and stood guard on the piasa for there was a window in his room that opened and he might make his escape.



Well the boy met father on the road, told him to hurry home, there was trouble there, and urred on to let the married children know. . . . this was an awful time . . . .  long before daylight the house was crowded with people.  They came from all the ajoining towns, such a Tragady was not known in that Town for years, if ever before."


[closes with an account of her feelings, her grief, her mother's last two months, & her trust in God.  "Sooner or later the end will come.  May we too when summoned say with her, our Father's will be done.  And go with that calm peicefull expression on our countainance that one feels that the Angles are there to take them home."

Newspaper:  

Census:  


1840C:  



EP
GI 369  Isle La Motte




M 10,20,40  F 0,5,5,10,10,40  Ag - 2

Genealogy:


Ezra Pike, Jr. m. 12/31/1815 to Barbara A. (Hill) (b. 12/31/1797 at Granville, NY).  BAH was the daughter of Caleb Hill, who was murdered in 1814.

Accused:  

___ Pipershine 

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

no

Occupation:

peddlar

Town:


transient; boarding with the Pikes

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Barbara A. (Hill) Pike

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


45

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Ezra Pike, Jr. in 1815

Children:

13 ch.

Occupation:

farm wife [she & husband owned a substantial farm & a new stone house; her husband a selectman for 12 terms, lister for 7 terms, & town rep., 1826-1827]

Town:


Isle La Motte

Birthplace:

b. Granville, NY

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Pruda Springer

Ethnicity:

[nb English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[18]

"the hired girl"

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:

house servant / maid for the Pike family

Town:


Isle La Motte

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1846, March 13




Hartland, WDS

P

CT


NOTE:  denial of entry to a brothel?  Hard to tell what happened.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / M-2

Rela:    NONDOM [not related]

Motive:  QUARREL over visit to a woman

Intox?:  yes, assailant

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:
afternoon or evening ("p.m.")

Days to death:  2


HOM:  Andrew Rogers m. Stephen Rogers


Weapon:  knife.  d. Sunday, 3/15


Circumstances:  at the home of the victim.  AR supposed "an abandoned woman" was in the house.  The struggle began when AR was ordered to leave the house.


Inquest:  in "a fury of mind"


Indictment:  ind. for mansl.  


Term:  3/1846t


Court proceedings:  pG.  LIFE.  pardoned 11/1855

Source:  

Wds Co. Ct. 1 (2nd ser.):  187

Newspaper:  


BFP, 3/27/1846:  Stephen Rogers stabbed in his own house on F last (3/13) by Andrew Rogers, an Irishman.  d. of wound on Sunday.  ditto Vermont Chronicle.


RH, 4/30/1846


VT REPUBLICAN 1846 missing at VtStLib


VT CHRONICLE, 3/18/1846:  "The Irishman had been on a spree for several days, and was just drunk enough to be brutal.  The affair was occasioned, we understand, by an abandoned woman whom the Irishman supposed to be at the house; and the wound was given during a struggle--the Irishman having been ordered away and refusing to go."  Jailed.


New Hampshire Patriot, 4/30/1846:  HOMS in VT:  Andrew Rogers, Irishman of Hartland, VT, pG, LIFE, for killing man named Rogers.

Census:  

1840C:  11 Rogers hhlds in Hartland

Stephen Rogers  WDS 435 Hartland

M 0,0,5,30  F 10,30  Ag - 2

1850C:  

Andrew Rogers  WDS 361 Windsor
[at Vt. St. Prison]

(39, laborer, b. Ireland -- for mansl.)

Genealogy:

Accused:  

Andrew Rogers 

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


35

65"

Literate:




Marital Status:  
s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


transient

Birthplace:

b. Ireland

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim:  

Stephen Rogers

Ethnicity:

Irish

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


[41]

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:

yes, several

Occupation:

farmer or farm laborer

Town:


Hartland

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Suspect(s








